FILED Sep 16, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

	Ų
Supreme Court No.	000-0
	- 922718-1

(Court of Appeals No. 32730-2-III)

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 5
	THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW, AS THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT, AND WITH OTHER DECISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)
	2. Because there was insufficient evidence that the knife, under these circumstances, was a deadly weapon, review should be granted
F.	CONCLUSION 8

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

<u>State v. Elmi</u> , 166 Wn.2d 209, 207 P.3d 439 (2009)
State v. McKague, 172 Wn.2d 802, 262 P.3d 1225 (2011)
State v. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d 212, 883 P.2d 320 (1994)
Washington Court of Appeals
State v. Holmes, 106 Wn. App. 775, 781-82, 24 P.3d 118 (2001)
State v. Shilling, 77 Wn. App. 166, 889 P.2d 948 (1995)
Statutes
RCW 9A.04.110(4)
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13 4(b)(3) 5 6 8

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

A.L.-A., appellant below, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A.L.-A. appealed from a Yakima County Superior Court conviction. This motion is based upon RAP 13.3(e) and 13.5A.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The State bears the burden to prove the essential elements of a criminal offense. As the crime was charged and prosecuted here, the State had to prove that, with the intent to inflict great bodily harm, A. assaulted her sister with a deadly weapon. To show it was a deadly weapon, the State had to prove that under the circumstances in which it was used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, the knife used by A. was readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm. Was the evidence presented at trial sufficient, and should review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 1, 2014, A. L.-A. was 14 years old and living in her mother's home. RP 106. Several months earlier, her older sister, Yesenia's boyfriend had been permitted to move in with the family. RP 107. This created tension within the home, as the couple took over A.'s

bedroom. RP 107. That day, A. and her older sister Yesenia got into an argument. RP 109. According to Yesenia, A. said that if Yesenia did not open the bathroom door, A. would go into Yesenia's room and destroy her possessions. RP 22.

Yesenia telephoned their mother, Carmen Ayala, and told her she needed to come home and control A. RP 23. When Ms. Ayala came home, Yesenia opened the bathroom door, told Ms. Ayala that A. had hit their younger brother "for no reason," and accused A. of leaving condoms on the older sister's bed. RP 25. According to Yesenia, this last comment made A. "really mad" and A. came over and hit her. <u>Id</u>. Ms. Ayala described what ensued as a "fistfight" between the two sisters. RP 90.

Yesenia was angry and told their mother, "you better hit her, or I'm going to hit her or do something to her." RP 51. According to A., when Yesenia realized that their mother was not going to physically discipline A., Yesenia took A.'s Xbox games into the kitchen and started pouring water on them. RP 114. A. ran to Yesenia's closet to look for her sister's laptop to break it in retaliation. At this point, A. claimed, Yesenia hit A. in the back of the head with a frying pan.² RP 115-16.

¹ A. denied this. RP 111.

² The juvenile court found Yesenia more credible than A., and rejected A.'s testimony that Yesenia attacked her with a pan, even though Yesenia's use of a pan to assault her sister was confirmed by Carmen Ayala. RP 97-98, 173, 175.

According to Yesenia, A. threw her television and laptop, breaking them. RP 28. Yesenia then grabbed A.'s Xbox and threw it outside. RP 34. After Yesenia broke the Xbox, A. went to the kitchen with her mother and picked up a knife, which she held to her own throat, crying that she wanted to kill herself, and kill her sister Yesenia. RP 40, 52, 54. Yesenia overheard A. threaten to kill herself three or four times. RP 54. She said she was tired of everything and could not take it anymore. RP 58. Ms. Ayala became alarmed that A. would in fact kill herself, and called the police. RP 99; Ex. 7.4

Yesenia went into the kitchen. She saw A. holding the knife by her head with the blade pointing up. Then she swung it in an outward motion from her body. RP 56. Yesenia was a foot or two away from A. RP 42. Yesenia did not believe that A. actually intended to kill her, but her feelings were hurt. RP 44. Yesenia shoved A. against the counter with both hands. RP 45. At this point, according to Yesenia, A. swung at her with the knife, which Yesenia believed resulted in her getting a cut on the outside of her arm. RP 45. Yesenia was not certain that this was how she

³ Ms. Ayala did not recall that A. threatened to kill Yesenia. RP 93.

⁴ Exhibit 7 is a transcript of Ms. Ayala's 911 call, in which she repeatedly states that A. has a knife and will kill herself.

⁵ Yesenia claimed that she pushed A. because she was worried A. might hurt their mother. RP 44-45.

sustained the cut, as she did not even notice it until ten or fifteen minutes later, when she felt it sting.⁶ RP 47, 59. After Yesenia shoved A., A. ran out the back door. RP 48.

The cut that Yesenia sustained was two to three inches long. RP 75. Photographs taken by a police officer who responded to the 911 call show a shallow short cut on the exterior of Yesenia's arm with a thin trickle of blood at one end. Ex. 1, 2. The police referred A. for a consultation with mental health professionals. RP 70. They did not retrieve or attempt to photograph the knife. RP 70, 79-80, 83.

Based on these events, the State charged A. with four criminal counts: assault in the first degree, felony harassment, malicious mischief in the third degree, and assault in the second degree. CP 42-43. Following a fact-finding hearing, the trial court convicted A. of first-degree assault and malicious mischief, and acquitted her of felony harassment and assault in the second degree.⁷ CP 12.

A. appealed her conviction, arguing the evidence was insufficient to show she intended to inflict great bodily harm, or that the knife, as used,

⁶ A. testified that she did not cut Yesenia with the knife. She believed the injury was a fingernail scratch that probably occurred when she was trying to wrest the frying pan from Yesenia's hands. RP 125. The trial court rejected the testimony that the cut was a fingernail scratch, RP 175, but, as A.'s counsel argued, there was nothing about the appearance of the injury that was inconsistent with a fingernail scratch. RP 157.

⁷ Because the second-degree assault charge was an alternative to the assault in the first degree charge, the court did not reach this count in its oral ruling, but in the court's written disposition order, it found A. not guilty of the charge. CP 12.

constituted a deadly weapon. On August 18, 2015, the Court of Appeals affirmed her conviction. Slip Op. at 8.

She seeks review in this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW, AS THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT, AND WITH OTHER DECISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

1. Because the State failed to prove that A. intended to inflict great bodily harm, the evidence was insufficient and review should be granted.

At trial, the State was required to prove that A. actually intended to kill her older sister, Yesenia, or that she intended to inflict injuries so serious that they would create a probability of death.

Under RCW 9.94A.110(4)(c), the mens rea required to commit assault in the first degree is the specific intent to commit great bodily harm. State v. Elmi, 166 Wn.2d 209, 215, 207 P.3d 439 (2009). "Specific intent is defined as intent to produce a specific result, as opposed to intent to do the physical act that produces the result." Elmi, 166 Wn.2d at 215 (quoting State v. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d 212, 218, 883 P.2d 320 (1994) (emphasis added)).

Thus, the State was required to show that A. specifically intended

– not just the physical act of holding or even thrusting the knife – but that

she intended to cause the specific result that followed -- the purportedly serious injuries to her sister. See Elmi, 166 Wn.2d at 215. A. never intended to kill or to seriously injure Yesenia, even if her injuries were, in fact, serious. A.'s lack of intent was evident – not only from Yesenia's own testimony, but from the trial court's findings. CP __, sub. no. 53 (CL 2). Yesenia testified at trial that she never believed A. seriously threatened to kill her that day during the argument. RP 44. The trial court apparently did not believe so either, since the court acquitted A. of felony harassment, finding no intentional threat to kill. CP __, sub. no. 53 (CL 2).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals decision affirming the conviction is in conflict with decisions of this Court, as well as other decisions of the Court of Appeals. Review should be granted. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

2. Because there was insufficient evidence that the knife, under these circumstances, was a deadly weapon, review should be granted.

The State failed to prove at trial that the knife. in its "inherent capacity and 'the circumstances in which it [was] used," was a deadly weapon. See State v. Shilling, 77 Wn. App. 166, 171, 889 P.2d 948 (1995) (quoting statutory language). A weapon's ready capability is

⁸ The seriousness of the injury is not conceded, since Yesenia did not even notice the cut for some time, and officers did not even suggest medical attention be offered to her. RP 45-47, 75.

assessed in terms of its potential for inflicting substantial bodily harm. <u>Id.</u>; see <u>State v. McKague</u>, 172 Wn.2d 802, 805-06, 262 P.3d 1225 (2011) (defining "substantial").

The Court of Appeals compares the instant case to <u>State v. Holmes</u>, a first degree robbery case. 106 Wn. App. 775, 781-82, 24 P.3d 118 (2001). <u>Holmes</u>, which involved an armed robbery of a grocery store in the middle of the night, is inapposite. <u>Id</u>. at 782. The case before this Court merely involved an argument between two sisters, the younger of whom, the appellant, was 14 years old. RP 106. The complainant here, Yesenia, also admittedly threw punches, made threats, and destroyed property during the altercation in the instant case. RP 28, 34-35, 45, 51, 90.

Even in the light most favorable to the State, without a showing that Yesenia was actually endangered, simply showing that A. was swinging the knife in front of her fails to prove what is required under the statute: that in the manner in which it was used, the knife was readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm.

Without proof that the knife was used or threatened to be used in such a way as to make it "readily capable" of causing substantial bodily harm or death, for a cut as inconsequential as Yesenia's to qualify as substantial bodily harm in order to support a conviction for first-degree

<u>assault</u>—a crime reserved for the most serious assaults short of death—this would render the term "substantial" redundant.

The evidence presented at trial failed to establish that the circumstances in which the knife was used prove the knife was a deadly weapon, as required by the statute. Neither does the evidence establish that the knife was readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm. RCW 9A.04.110(4), (6); McKague, 172 Wn.2d at 805-06.

Accordingly, because the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court, and with other decisions of the Court of Appeals, review should be granted. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

F. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed, as it is in conflict with decisions of this Court, and with other decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).