RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 07, 2015, 9:47 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK



Supreme Ct. No. 92278-1 COA No. 32730-2-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

A. L.-A., Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSEPH BRUSIC
Prosecuting Attorney

TAMARA A. HANLON Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #28345 Attorney for Respondent 128 N. Second Street, Room 329 Yakima, WA 98901 (509) 574-1210



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

At issue is the unpublished opinion filed on August 18, 2015 in Division Three of the Court of Appeals, No. 32730-2.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the decision meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)?

ANSWER TO ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. No, the decision does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The petitioner, A. L.-A., was charged with first degree assault, felony harassment, and third degree malicious mischief.

CP 42-3. The charges stem from the following facts:

On April 1, 2014, Yesenia Ayala was at home with two younger siblings, her 3-year-old brother and her 4-year-old sister, L.-A., when she found her brother crying on the floor. He told Yesenia that L.-A. had hit him. RP 20. Yesenia asked L.-A. why she hit him and L.-A. told her it was none of her business. RP 20.

Yesenia went to take a shower and took her brother with her. RP 20. L.-A. banged on the door and loudly ordered Yesenia to "open the fucking door." RP 21-2. She repeated this and at one point threatened to destroy Yesenia's things if she didn't open the door. RP 22. Yesenia let her in and L.-A. went in and out of the bathroom. RP 22. Yesenia called her mom and asked her to come home guickly and control L.-A. RP 23, 88.

Her mom returned home and Yesenia informed her that L.-A. was hitting her 3-year-old brother for no reason. RP 25.

Yesenia also told her mom that she didn't like L.-A. leaving condoms on her bed. RP 25. L.-A. got mad and started hitting Yesenia in the face and stomach. RP 25-6. Yesenia was seven months pregnant at the time. RP 26. Yesenia described her sister as being "really, really mad" at the time. RP 25.

L.-A. also threw a laptop and television that belonged to Yesenia. RP 30. In response, Yesenia threw L.-A.'s Xbox video game console. RP 34. At one point, L.-A. got a sharp kitchen knife and yelled that she wanted to kill Yesenia and also kill herself. RP 37, 39, 40, 57. While she was yelling that she wanted to kill Yesenia, she was swinging the knife around. RP 41. The knife was about seven inches in length. RP 39.

Yesenia pushed L.-A. in order to protect her mom. RP 41. Right after that, L.-A. cut Yesenia on her arm and ran out the door with the knife. RP 41, 47. Yesenia had a two- or three-inch long cut that was bleeding and stinging. RP 47, 75. Yesenia told her mom that L.-A. had cut her. RP 92.

L.-A. testified at trial. She admitted that she cut her sister but claimed that it was only with her fingernails. RP 128. L.-A. also admitted to putting a knife to her throat and threatening to kill herself. RP 121. She said she was having a breakdown. RP 121. She claimed she never touched Yesenia with the knife. RP 125.

At trial, L.-A. was convicted of first degree assault and third degree malicious mischief. CP 57. The judge noted that he did not find L.-A. to be credible. RP 173. L.-A. was sentenced to an exceptional sentence below the standard range. CP 13.

Petitioner appealed, arguing sufficiency of the evidence, and Division Three of the Court of Appeals upheld her convictions.

E. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has explained the standard for when review should be accepted:

...[T]he petitioner must persuade us that either the decision below conflicts with a decision of this court or another division of the Court of Appeals, that it presents a significant question of constitutional interest, or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this court. RAP 13.5A(a)(1), (b); RAP 13.4(b).

<u>In re Pers. Restraint of Coats</u>, 173 Wn.2d 123, 132-133, 267 P.3d 324 (2011).

Petitioner argues that Division Three's opinion conflicts with other decisions of the State Supreme Court and with other decisions of the Court of Appeals. Petitioner cites <u>State v. Elmi</u>, 166 Wn.2d 209, 207 P.3d 439 (2009), and <u>State v. Shilling</u>, 77 Wn. App. 166, 889 P.2d 948 (1995). However, the court's opinion is entirely consistent with those decisions. As such, review should be denied.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. There was sufficient evidence to support the first degree assault conviction.

In reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, courts review the evidence in the light most favorable to the State to determine whether *any* rational trier of fact could have found the

essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wash. 2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)). The verdict will be upheld unless no reasonable jury could have found each element proved beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 596-97, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995).

A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom. State v. Theroff, 25 Wn. App. 590, 599, 608 P.2d 1254, aff'd, 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980). The evidence is interpreted most strongly against the defendant. Id. Evidentiary inferences favoring the defendant are not considered in a sufficiency of the evidence analysis. State v. Jackson, 62 Wn. App. 53, 58 n.2, 813 P.2d 156 (1991).

"In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is not to be considered any less reliable than direct evidence." State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). Furthermore, circumstantial evidence may be used to prove any element of a crime. State v. Garcia, 20 Wn. App. 401, 405, 579 P.2d 1034 (1978).

Here, the definition of first degree assault, in pertinent part, is as follows:

A person is guilty of assault in the first degree if he or she, with intent to inflict great bodily harm (a) assaults another with a...deadly weapon or by any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death...

RCW § 9A.36.011(a). This requires proof of the following four elements:

(1) That on or about (date), the defendant assaulted (name of person); (2) That the assault was committed ... with a deadly weapon or by a force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death; (3) That the defendant acted with intent to inflict great bodily harm; and (4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

WPIC 35.02.

L.-A. challenges two elements on appeal: 1) intent to inflict great bodily harm and 2) the existence of a deadly weapon.

a. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found that L.-A. had the intent to inflict great bodily harm.

Under RCW § 9A.08.010(1)(a), "[a] person acts with intent or intentionally when he or she acts with the objective or purpose

to accomplish a result which constitutes a crime." Specific intent cannot be presumed, but it can be inferred as a logical probability from all the facts and circumstances of defendant's conduct. State v. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d 212, 217, 883 P.2d 320 (1994).

Petitioner cites <u>State v. Elmi</u>, 166 Wn.2d 209, 207 P.3d 439 (2009), for the rule that specific intent means intent to produce a specific result. Petition at 5. However, in the case at hand, the court's opinion, finding sufficient evidence of intent to inflict great bodily harm, does not conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Elmi</u>. A reasonable trier of fact could have found this element proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Regarding this element, the State had to prove that L.-A. had the intent to inflict "great bodily harm," which is defined by statute as follows:

... bodily injury which creates a probability of death, or which causes significant serious permanent disfigurement, or which causes a significant permanent loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ.

RCW § 9A.04.110(4)(c).

First of all, the State established the L.-A. was mad, out of control, and had physically assaulted Yesenia prior to cutting her

with the knife. Then L.-A. began destroying Yesenia's property.

L.A. admitted that she was having a "breakdown." Her behavior escalated into her grabbing a knife, swinging it around, and threatening to kill both herself and Yesenia. In addition to her actions, L.A.'s verbal threat to kill Yesenia is telling of her intent. Viewing this evidence in a light most favorable to the State, including all reasonable inferences therefrom, a rational trier of fact could have found that L.-A. intended to inflict great bodily harm. As such, the court's opinion does not conflict with State v. Elmi.

b. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found that the knife was a deadly weapon.

Petitioner argues that the State failed to prove that the knife was a deadly weapon, citing State v. Shilling, 77 Wn. App. 166, 889 P.2d 948 (1995). In Shilling, Division One of the Court of Appeals held that there was sufficient evidence that a bar glass was a deadly weapon. In that case the defendant hit another man in the head with a bar glass, knocking off the victim's glasses and causing facial lacerations. 77 Wn. App. at 172. Expert testimony established that a blow to the head using a glass could fracture the

nose and/or cause lacerations requiring stitches and producing permanent scarring. <u>Id.</u> Nothing in Divisions Three's decision in the case at hand conflicts with <u>State v. Shilling</u>.

A "[d]eadly weapon" includes:

"any other weapon, device, instrument ...which, under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, is readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm."

RCW § 9A.04.110(6), WPIC 2.06.01. "Substantial bodily harm," which is referenced in the deadly weapon definition, means bodily injury which involves a temporary but substantial disfigurement, or which causes a temporary but substantial loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ, or which causes a fracture of any bodily part. RCW § 9A.04.110(4)(b), WPIC 2.03.01.

Disfigurement is an injury to the appearance of a person.

State v. Atkinson, 113 Wn. App. 661, 667, 54 P.3d 702 (2002).

The presence of marks on the skin may indicate a temporary but substantial disfigurement. State v. Ashcraft, 71 Wn. App. 444, 455, 859 P.2d 60 (1993) (bruises that resulted from being hit by a shoe were "temporary but substantial disfigurement"); see also State v. Holmes, 106 Wn. App. 775, 781-82, 24 P.3d 1118 (2001).

L.-A. argued on appeal that there was insufficient evidence to prove that the knife was a deadly weapon. At issue was whether the knife, under the circumstances in which it was used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, was readily capable of causing at the least, temporary but substantial disfigurement. L.-A. argued that victim's injury was not "substantial." But the actual injury inflicted is only one factor in deciding if a knife is readily capable of causing substantial bodily harm. See State v. Holmes, 106 Wn. App. 775, 781-82, 24 P.3d 1118 (2001).

In determining whether a weapon "is readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm," courts look to the circumstances under which it was used, including the intent and ability of the user, the degree of force, the part of the body to which it is applied, and the injuries actually inflicted. Holmes, 106 Wn. App. at 781-82; State v. Shilling, 77 Wn. App. 166, 171, 889 P.2d 948 (1995) (quoting State v. Sorenson, 6 Wn. App. 269, 273, 492 P.2d 233 (1972)).

In <u>State v. Barragan</u>, 102 Wn. App. 754, 761, 9 P.3d 942 (2000), a pencil was considered a deadly weapon when the defendant forcefully swung the pointed end at the victim's eye and stated, "[y]ou're gonna die." In <u>State v. Holmes</u>, the defendant

held a utility knife, with the blade extended, at waist level inside of a grocery store. He told the manager to "come get me" or to "try and stop me," and he waved the knife at the manager before turning and leaving the store with groceries. 106 Wn. App. at 778. The manager was just a few feet away and was forced to step back.

Id. at 782. The court found that the knife was a deadly weapon because it was readily capable of causing substantial bodily harm and easily accessible and readily available for use. Id.

Here, L.-A. manifested a ready willingness to use the knife to cause severe injury. She swung the open knife at Yesenia. While the blade only hit her arm, the potential for substantial bodily harm was great. Viewed in a light most favorable to the State, the evidence shows that L.-A. intended to sufficiently injure Yesenia. Importantly, L.-A. said she wanted to kill Yesenia. RP 37, 40, 57. A rational jury could find that she possessed the knife in such circumstances that the knife was readily capable of causing substantial bodily harm and thus, a deadly weapon.

L.-A. argued on appeal there was no proof of scarring and that the cut was shallow and did not require medical intervention.

However, Washington courts have not interpreted the statutory definition of deadly weapon to require proof of actual infliction of

substantial bodily injury. See Holmes, 106 Wn. App. at 782 (determining utility knife was a deadly weapon despite fact no injury occurred). Instead, the proper inquiry is whether the evidence supports the conclusion that the weapon, "under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, is *readily capable of* causing death or substantial bodily harm." RCW § 9A.04.110(6) (emphasis added).

Based on the proper inquiry, the Court of Appeals correctly found that there was sufficient evidence that the knife was possessed in such circumstances that it was readily capable of causing substantial bodily harm and thus, a deadly weapon.

G. CONCLUSION

The decision at hand does not meet any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). It is consistent with other cases decided by this Court and the Court of Appeals. Furthermore, there was sufficient evidence to support the first degree assault conviction. The Court of Appeals decision was correct in affirming the trial court's decision. As such, the petition for review should be denied.